Minutes



Council

Date: 28 February 2023

Time: 5.00 pm

Present: Councillors C Reeks, S Cocks, E Stowell-Corten, J Harris, A Screen, L James,

T Harvey, M Howells, P Bright, J Peterson, A Pimm, D Batrouni, D Jenkins, P Drewett, B Davies, S Adan, M Pimm, C Baker-Westhead, J Reynolds,

R Howells, A Sterry, J Jones, G Horton, J Cleverly, P Cockeram, D Davies, M Al-Nuaimi, M Evans, D Fouweather, D Harvey, M Kellaway, M Linton, D Mayer,

R Mogford, J Mudd, M Spencer, K Thomas, C Townsend, T Watkins,

K Whitehead, J Clarke, Y Forsey, P Hourahine, J Hughes, J Jordan, L Lacey,

S Marshall, W Routley, A Morris, F Hussain and B Perkins

1. **Preliminaries**

1.i Apologies

None received.

1.ii Declarations of Interest

Councillors Horton and Marshall declared an interest under Item 8.

2. Minutes

The Minutes of 11 January 2023 were accepted subject to the following:

Item 10 Mayoral Nomination 2023/24

Councillor Evans wanted it noted that it was unanimously voted that Cllr T Watkins be Mayor for 2023/24

<u>Item 12 Leaders Questions</u>

Councillor Evans wanted it recorded that Council Questions had returned to the process of open questions in 2016.

3. Appointments

To consider the proposed appointments set out in the report

Councillor Clarke moved the appointments set out in the Report, as agreed by the Business managers, subject to the additional appointments set out below.

Councillor Fouweather seconded the report.

Resolved: That the following appointments be agreed.

Governing Body Appointments

Governing Body	No of Vacancies / Re-appointments	Nominations Received	
Langstone Primary	Re-appointment	Garrie Tillett	
Monnow Primary	Re-appointment	Jason Jordan	
Lliswerry High	New Appointment	Reverend Father Glen Wilkins	
Lliswerry High	New Appointment	Adam Smith	
Ysgol Gymraeg Ifor Hael	New Appointment	Joseph Chambers	
Caerleon Lodge Hill	New Appointment	Jason Hughes	
Ysgol Gymraeg Bro Teyrnon	New Appointment	Peredur Griffiths	
Jubilee Park	New Appointment	Martin Bentley	
Marshfield Primary	New Appointment	Suzanne Evans	
Milton Primary	New Appointment	Stephen Blewett	

Appointment to the Gwent Regional PSB

Councillors Stowell-Corten and Farzina Hussain

4. Police Issues

The Presiding Member welcomed Chief Superintendent Carl Williams, Local Policing Commander for Newport and Monmouthshire, who provided council members with an update on Police issues within East, West and Central Newport.

The Presiding Member invited the Leader to put questions to Chief Superintendent Williams.

The Leader expressed her thanks to the Chief Superintendent on behalf of all elected members for engaging with councillors and working in partnerships at ward level. It was really productive and helpful and at this time, most welcome. The Leader also passed on her thanks to Chief Inspector Davies for the information sent out to all colleagues who also found the briefing very helpful.

The Leader referred to hate crimes and that she and colleagues attended a vigil outside the Westgate Hotel to remember and pay tribute to the life of Brianna Ghey. It was profoundly moving to see representatives from all communities but particularly our trans community. To hear them pay tribute but also talk about their fears, that also included mothers talking about the children and young people too. In light of this, what assurance could the Chief Superintendent give that all communities within Newport were safe.

The Chief Superintendent mentioned that these were some of the most harrowing incidents. The stance within Gwent Police is that this behaviour was intolerable. Specialist hate crime support officers were in place when these incidents occurred to provide additional support. Zero tolerance was supported in these incidences to bring those people to justice. The neighbourhood policing team assurance was crucial to show that the Police stood in solidarity and the strongest action possible would be taken. The race action plan and an action plan for violence against women and girls was recently put on the strategic policing requirement. A representative police force that acted appropriately and one that did not tolerate this sort of behaviour was needed in all areas.

Questions to the Police raised by Councillors:

- Councillor Harvey mentioned that there were a few incidents of attempted burglary within the Alway ward and Somerton. Councillor Harvey had been in touch with the local policing team, however the inspector was currently away and therefore requested extra teams to patrol Alway, Somerton and outskirts of Ringland ward. The Chief Superintendent assured Councillor Harvey that the police did not tolerate burglary and would look at putting on extra patrolling for the area. Whilst the inspector was on leave, there were other officers who could assist in carrying out that role. There had been a reduction in residential burglaries across Newport, however one was too many.
- Councillor Routley referred to potholes on A48, Coldra roundabout to Hillcroft. The Presiding Member asked that this be raised with the Cabinet Member for Infrastructure and Assets, not the Police.
- Councillor Cleverly raised the problems around the Bettws in Bloom building. Since last October vandalism had taken place involving a certain group of young people and it had happened again this weekend. The Bettws Councillors had got in touch with the local PSCOs but also requested raising the patrols in this area. Large groups were also congregating in the park and Bettws Club. The Chief Superintendent was aware that this was an ongoing issue and some youths were identified and letters were issues. There was a problem-solving plan in place, working with Newport City Council to drive this down, however extra patrols would be put in place.
- Councillor Reeks and Morris referred to e-scooters and e-bikes, which are a regular occurrence and there was a recent incident involving a car and a young person on an e-bike. What were the implications for the driver and what would happen in relation to insurance for the youngster on the e-scooter. The Chief Superintendent advised that this was a nationwide issue and was taken seriously and that e-bikes should be taxed and insured for road use. The police were taking action and seizing e-bikes. The Chief Superintendent dealt with an incident recently. There was a clear strategy and advice given from the National Police Chief Council in terms of action to take if the most serious violence occurred. There was also the balance of what proportionate action could be taken although they could be a danger to road users but unless they were committing a serious crime, it was not the police's stance to chase them.
- Councillor Whitehead echoed the comments of Councillor Cleverly and had sight of a recent video of teenagers trashing the Bettws in Bloom building, which was very close to the police station and although there were police cars outside, no action was taken. There were also teenagers causing unprovoked fights and were also loitering outside Monnow Primary School and smashing windows during the day. Councillor Whitehead asked for heightened police patrol on foot. The teenagers seemed more emboldened on a weekly basis and intimidating elderly residents. Councillor Whitehead also spoke with local PSCO and considered putting in an application for CCTV funding, for the school area. The Chief Superintendent reiterated that there was a problem-solving plan in place. In relation to police cars outside, the Chief Superintendent would check to see who was there at the time including response officers and would make these issues were included in briefings.
- Councillor Reynolds supported the comments of the Leader regarding the co-operative approach taken. In Rogerstone West there were historical issues with drugs and e-bikes. The PCSOs and local neighbourhood police however did work closely with ward councillors, attend ward surgeries and had attended walkabouts which made a difference. There was a recent incident reported to the police and when the residents saw the action taken by the Police, it made a difference and reinforced confidence in residents. The Chief Superintendent thanked Councillor Reynolds for his comments.
- Councillor Hourahine mentioned an unpleasant incident in St Julian's before Christmas where there was a so-called bully dog attack, which resulted in two small dogs being

killed. The local community was outraged, and a resident contacted Councillor Hourahine and gave him a name and address of the person involved with the attacks, which was then passed to Inspector Cawley. Councillor Hourahine wanted to thank the member of the public for passing on this information and added that everyone knew or lived close to someone who committed a crime. If people could come forward to report these issues, the sooner they could be addressed. The Chief Superintendent echoed the Councillor's comments and referred to e-bikes and off -road bikes, if residents knew about these owners, they should be reported whenever possible to the police completely anonymously.

- Councillor Horton echoed Councillor Reynolds comments and thanked Inspector Cawley and his team on behalf of Maindee ward for their presence and help for residents with issues they were experiencing.
- Councillor Watkins referred to Operation Absorb in Tredegar Park and Marshfield and asked if data could be sent on to local members for their information. The Chief Superintendent agreed and would pass on this information.
- Councillor Mogford said that he owned an e-bike and asked the Chief Superintendent to clarify if he was talking about legal electric bikes or e-scooters. The Chief Superintendent confirmed that e-bikes that used peddle power are legal. He that those which used a press button to start the electric engine were illegal. Councillor Mogford went on to say that legal e-bikes however had a speed chip which could be manipulated to double the speed, to 30 MPH. The Chief Superintendent advised that anyone breaking the law would be stopped.

Councillor Batrouni referred to an issue raised at Council before in relation to 'cuckooing' and asked what was being done with Registered Social Landlords, Newport City Homes and the council to raise awareness for the potentially vulnerable. The Chief Superintendent advised that there were some positive outcomes across Gwent and this often happened to vulnerable individuals. The police did their best to educate vulnerable people when they were identified and took the strongest action using intelligence linked to this. The police had worked in Broadmead Park recently with RSL and were able to identify a premises subject to anti-social behaviour and cuckooing. The Police worked with RSLs and all appropriate agencies including third sector to protect those vulnerable within the communities.

5. 2023/24 Capital Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy

The Presiding Member invited the Leader to introduce the report.

This was an annual report focusing on the Council's capital expenditure plans, the financial impact of those in terms of borrowing, and the investment strategy for the year.

It was important to note that, although Cabinet approved the detail capital programme, full Council ultimately approved the borrowing limits and prudential indicators contained within the report.

The Governance and Audit Committee have also considered the report in their most recent meeting and provided comments. In this case, their comments simply endorsed the proposed strategies, with no concerns raised.

The Council was entering a new capital programme window, with the current programme ending in March this year. A new five-year programme was taking effect from April.

Whilst the programme was reviewed once every five years, it was proposed to move to a rolling approach to capital programme management, meaning that the overall programme, and borrowing affordability, was to be reviewed annually.

The change would introduce more flexibility in managing the programme, accompanied by strengthened governance arrangements, detailed in the report.

Due to the extremely challenging financial context, the proposed programme contained only ongoing and previously approved schemes, which were carried forward from the existing programme, and annual sums, including activities such as annual asset maintenance and fleet renewal.

Because of the affordability challenges, there was no new borrowing headroom included in the strategy, meaning that capital headroom (used to pursue new schemes or address cost increases on existing schemes) was limited. As a result, every opportunity needed to be taken to boost the headroom via one-off sources to continue to respond to emerging pressures as and when they arose.

It was important for Council to note that, whilst there was no new borrowing included in the programme, previously approved borrowing would be incurred over the next few years, this increased the overall Capital Financing Requirement and the Council's level of debt. The borrowing limits proposed in the report, which Council was required to approve today, took account of this.

In addition, the revenue consequence of additional borrowing (eg interest payable on loans) was already budgeted for, following a budget investment made in 2021/22.

It was vital that the proposed strategy was affordable, prudent, and sustainable. The fact that the revenue budget required to pay capital financing costs confirmed that the strategy was affordable.

Prudence could be achieved by ensuring that the level of capital expenditure being incurred was proportionate in the context of the overall budget. Additionally, the recommended borrowing limits aligned with the broader capital expenditure plans.

Sustainability was achieved by ensuring that the long-term commitment to incur capital financing costs was reflected within the medium-term financial plan and the necessary revenue funding was in place for the duration of the financial commitment.

In terms of Treasury Management, the report detailed the Council's approach to borrowing and investing. An internal borrowing strategy would still be pursued by using available cash resources to defer external borrowing for as long as possible. Borrowing would only be undertaken in advance of need where there was a clear financial rationale for doing so.

For investing, the Council continued to prioritised security, liquidity, and yield, in that order and would strike an appropriate balance between risk and return.

A minimum investment balance of £10m was required and longer-term investments, often with a higher return continued to be explored.

It was important that close attention was paid to the Head of Finance commentary within the covering report, which directly addressed the question of affordability, prudence and sustainability and confirmed that the proposed strategy and programme met all the criteria.

The report was seconded by Councillor Davies.

Comments from Councillors:

Councillor D Davies welcomed the new strategic plan, particularly as it meant adopting a simple approach for annual review giving the current difficult financial context. As Cabinet Member for Education and Early Years, Councillor D Davies was excited to see the plan for school improvement would continue to be delivered.

Resolved:

That Council unanimously

- Approved the Capital Strategy (Appendix 2), which incorporated the approved capital programme, and the borrowing requirements/limits needed to deliver the approved programme.
- Approved the Treasury Management Strategy and Treasury Management Indicators, the Investment Strategy and the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy for 2023/24. (Appendix 3)
- As part of the above:
 - Noted the increasing debt, and corresponding revenue cost of this, in delivering the new Capital Programme, and the implications of this over both the short and medium-long term with regard to affordability, prudence and sustainability.
 - Noted the Head of Finance comments that borrowing needed to be limited to that
 required to fund ongoing and previously approved schemes brought forward from the
 current Capital Programme only, and the recommended prudential indicators on
 borrowing limits to achieve this.
 - Noted the proposal to prioritise annual sums funding over any new schemes, unless unavoidable.
 - Noted the feedback provided by the Governance and Audit Committee on 26 January 2023 (paragraph 5).

6. 2023/24 Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan

The Presiding Member introduced the report and mentioned that this was one of the most difficult budgets he had seen and asked that council colleagues deal with this item respectfully.

The Leader presented the report to budget and Council Tax 2023/24 report to colleagues. It was an integral part of the Council's budget setting processes and followed the detailed budget proposals that the Cabinet agreed at our February meeting, during which we recommended an 8.5% increase in Council Tax.

The Leader reminded everyone, as the 'Administration', the Cabinet made decisions on the allocation of resources and Full Council made the final decision on the Council Tax level only. Council was to agree the Council Tax for 2023/24 and via this, the Council's total net budget.

The detailed recommendations were outlined in the report itself, however, in summary, Council was asked:

To note the extensive consultation exercise that has been completed and taken into account by Cabinet when finalising the detailed budget.

To note the Head of Finance's recommendations regarding the minimum General Fund balance and the robustness of the overall budget.

Most importantly, to consider and approve a Council Tax increase for Newport City Council of 8.5%, a Band D tax rate of £1,380.13, and the overall revenue budget shown in Appendix 1

In doing so, to approve the formal Council Tax resolution, which incorporated the Police and Crime Commissioner for Gwent and Community Council precepts and was detailed in Appendix 3.

As well as this, Council was asked to note the Medium Term Financial Plan and the financial context, note Cabinet's approval of the plan and the fact that this was subject to ongoing review, and note and approve the Council's reserve strategy and transformation fund protocol.

The Leader first went through the budget proposals with Council.

This particular budget process was one of the most challenging in recent times. High levels of inflation, which were impacting residents and businesses alike, were also impacting significantly upon the Council's finances. This was evident in terms of pay awards and energy costs, as well as the payments we make to our service providers. Coupled with a significant increase in demand for services, particularly in certain services, it led to a stark budget position and a significant gap between projected costs and funding to be addressed.

Addressing that budget gap, and achieving a balanced budget, was done in a number of ways, including additional funding from Welsh Government, savings across a range of services and the recommended Council Tax increase.

Although savings were required to balance the budget, we tried to minimise the impact upon services as much as possible as well as investing significantly in a number of services. These vital investments were set out in February Cabinet meeting, taking account of the feedback received from the public consultation.

The key priorities, as highlighted within the report, would see significant investment as we continued to recover from the last two years include the following:

- Including the additional funding outlined during the recent Cabinet meeting, we were committing a total of £9m towards the pressures being faced by schools in 2023/24. This funding comprised mainly recurring funding, supplemented by some targeted one-off use of reserves;
- £13.9m investment in social care, which included funding to pay care workers the Real living Wage from April 2023, additional provision to cover the risk of higher ongoing costs in the sector and significant increased demand for both Children's and Adult Services;
- £3.6m for homelessness provision to support the Welsh Government directive to ensure that there were no rough sleepers in Newport;
- £1.7m to make good the shortfall in the NJC pay award for 2022/23.

A number of these investments, coupled with the withdrawal of certain savings that were consulted on, demonstrated Cabinet had listened to the views of Newport residents and were doing the most we can for the most vulnerable citizens of our city.

The Leader turned Council's attention to the recommended Council Tax increase for 2023/24. As announced at the February Cabinet recommended an 8.5% increase, which was lower than the figure consulted on. Cabinet listened to the views of Newport residents and the reduced increase demonstrated this.

Whilst it was understood that an increase of this size was challenging for residents, at a time when costs of other household bills were increasing, the Council was facing the same cost pressures, coupled with a comparatively low rate of Council Tax to other Welsh local authorities. Before a decision was made on the level of Council Tax that was being proposed today, the Leader outlined the following points:

- The focus was often on the percentage increase, that was used as a means of comparing the relative increases in other areas. The monetary values were however more relevant. In this respect, Newport continued to have one of the lowest Council Tax rates in Wales and the UK and the monetary values the percentage increase generated was less than the value an equivalent percentage increase would generate in nearly all of the other councils in Wales.
- To explain in more detail, for the monetary value the 8.5% generated, which was £2.08 a week for a Band D property, almost two thirds of Welsh councils would need to increase Council Tax by 7.5% and less to achieve the same monetary increase.
- Most properties in Newport ware Band A C and an 8.5% percentage increase would increase weekly bills by £1.39, £1.62, and £1.85 respectively. In cash terms, these were relatively modest increases but the total monetary value it generated was needed for the budget, in order to preserve the Council's most important services.
- For over a decade our position was consistent as we remained second/third lowest Council Tax levels in Wales. Even with an 8.5% increase, this position was unlikely to change.

Whilst there was a number of financial pressures over the medium term the Leader was pleased that Cabinet managed to respond to the concerns raised by residents and reduce the Council Tax increases accordingly.

Despite the challenges faced, a way through this process was found to balance this year's budget without the need for a general use of reserves. Some may question the decision not to use reserves but using reserves would only store up problems for future years. Whilst the decisions taken in relation to savings was not easy, balancing the budget without using reserves was the responsible thing to do and would stand the Council in better stead going forward and put us on a more sustainable footing for the medium term.

The Leader thanked Cabinet colleagues, to everyone that contributed to the consultation and officers who contributed to balancing the budget. The Leader felt that this was a fair, sustainable and responsible budget.

Councillor D Davies seconded the report and reserved her right to speak.

Councillor Morris requested an amendment to the motion:

Amendment to the motion moved by the leader as set out in the budget report

The amendment is to refer the budget back to the Cabinet for re-consideration on the basis of the following suggestions.

 To invest a further £160k in the Environment and Public Protection service with a suggestion of deleting the saving proposal to move to three weekly residential and garden waste collections.

It is appreciated that Cabinet will ultimately agree how to utilise this investment but we ask that it be considered for the three weekly waste collection.

- To reduce Council Tax increase from the 8.5% currently proposed to a more acceptable level
- To keep the budget in balance after the costs of these by utilising reserves to do this for 2023/24. Cabinet will need to identify the reserves.

Councillor M Howells seconded the motion and reserved his right to speak at the end of the debate.

Comments from Councillors regarding the amendment proposal:

- Councillor Harvey asked where were the figures from the reserves and how would the Lliswerry Independent group balance the budget.
- The Presiding Member invited Councillor Morris to speak on the amendment to the motion.
- Councillor Morris appreciated the position that the Council was in and cared for the people of Newport during these dark times. Councillor Morris accepted that the three weekly bin collection was to come to Newport due to climate change but felt that it was too soon as residents could not cope with the system. Councillor Morris referred to comparisons of the small size bins and household sizes and reduced access to the tip. Councillor Morris requested that this be delayed until council was prepared and had processes in place for three weekly bin collections.

Councillor Morris then discussed the proposed alternative budget. The UK was seeing a reduction of £69 per month to their income due to the cost-of-living crisis. Food banks for children was arranged within his local ward and every penny made a difference to residents.

- The Presiding Member advised Councillor Morris that his three minutes was up and invited him to speak at the end of the debate.
- Councillor Batrouni mentioned that, with his cabinet colleagues he was challenged by council group colleagues to meet with officers to discuss how the budget could be balanced and agreed that these were dark times. Councillor Batrouni also asked where the money would come from. It was very important that the budget was balanced. Councillor Batrouni mentioned by going into £160K of reserves, this would be using the internal borrowing mechanism and would mean that the Council would have to externally borrow and pay more interest, which the council could not afford.
- Councillor Reynolds asked as a point of clarification with regard to the extra investments and cuts in three weekly collections why there was no explanation as to where the extra money would come from. Councillor Reynolds and his colleagues were aware of how much residents were suffering.
- Councillor Whitehead felt that, from feedback in his ward, the three weekly bin collections was a scary proposal and the fear was that the cost of dealing with extra fly tipping would be expensive although the saving might take into consideration the fly tipping aspect. Councillor Whitehead understood that it was very difficult for Cabinet and officers to balance the budget and felt that Councillors Morris, Batrouni and Reynolds made valid points and acknowledged it was a difficult task.
- Councillor Harvey reiterated there was no figure put forward and reiterated that councillors took the budget seriously. The council tax increase would also help the council tax reduction scheme and help those residents in financial difficulty. Councillor Harvey reiterated that it was difficult situation and that the budget consultation was extensive,

taking into consideration the public opinion as well as protecting services such as social services and education, which was a greater priority.

- Councillor Sterry referred to bin collections and said that Newport was known as the fly tipping capital of Wales, therefore moving to three weekly bin collections would make matters worse. Councillor Sterry also felt that it was the wrong time for a 8.5% increase in Council Tax.
- Councillor Howells recognised that we were in the middle of cost-of-living crisis and that inflation was on the increase. Councillor Howells felt that the budget proposal would hit residents in the pocket at a difficult time. Earlier this year there was an underspend in 2021/22 of £7.8M which was set aside by Cabinet to help residents in the cost-of-living crisis. At February Cabinet this money was put aside to boost reserves for capitol use. The money used to fund the entirety of the deficit would have resulted in a 0% increase in Council Tax. Whilst Councillor Howells was not advocating that this was the right approach, however, using £2M of money towards a council tax reduction to 5.68% and fund the three weekly bin collections, using half of the money would have reduced the Council Tax money by 6%. Councillor Howells understood the pressures on climate change to reduce waste and increase recycling for future generations and Newport was good at recycling. We therefore needed to take the opportunity to work with communities and businesses to build some resilience, facilitate proper engagement and implement a three year strategy of change management which was well thought out and not a knee jerk reaction which would move the problem from bins, to country roads and housing estates. Councillor Howells once again stated that he seconded the proposed motion amendment for an alternative budget and for Cabinet to consider the figures provided. which was to reduce the Council Tax to 5.68% by using £2M in the capitol reserves.
- Councillor Thomas referred to £69 per month cut in the UK which would add to the cost-of-living problem. What was proposed in an increase in council tax would not come close to that amount and would not affect residents of Newport below band D.
- Councillor Al-Nuaimi spoke against the amendment and whilst he felt that the Lliswerry Ward members provided an alternative budget with compassion for residents, it went against the Council's Standing Orders because it was council that set the Council tax rate and not Cabinet. Councillor Morris could have come with an alternative figure to discuss. It was not what everyone considered a fair budget but under the circumstances was the best that could be offered. It was important to balance a budget and this needed to be done at Council this evening. Councillor Al-Nuaimi thanked all officers and Cabinet for their hard work and contribution, balancing the budget at this difficult time. The Presiding Member added that the proposed alternative budget was for Cabinet to consider then bring back to Council for reconsideration.
- Councillor Marshall felt that the motion was ambiguous, and whilst the proposed budget from Cabinet was a hard decision, it was a fair budget. It was also still one of the lowest council taxes in the region. Councillor Marshall would therefore vote against the amendment. Finally, there would be financial implications set by Welsh Government if Newport City Council did not meet the three weekly criteria.
- Councillor Forsey highlighted that the savings with three weekly bins collections, was £320K per year and Newport City Council would be fined £500K per year if we did not meet the recycling targets set by Welsh Government and therefore could not afford this. There would be a programme of working with residents, communication and education programme. New recycling containers would be issued to help residents with the three weekly bin collections. There were currently more than 1.5M people in Wales were on three or four weekly bin collections. 18 out or 22 Local Authorities in Wales were either on three weekly bin collections or were consulting on it. In terms of managing, Councillor

Forsey had seen fly tipping whilst litter picking and felt it was more to do with the character of the person doing the fly tipping rather than residents being forced to fly tip.

Councillor Morris concluded that in relation to the 8.5% was a small amount of money, however, it was a choice and he was asking if Cabinet could be reconsider reducing it which would make a difference to those residents struggling and using food banks.

Councillor Morris therefore wanted the amendment moved and requested a recorded vote to reflect this.

As there were not five councillors supporting the amendment the recorded vote was not taken forward.

The Leader closed the debate by adding all members agreed that balancing the budget was very difficult and that these were unprecedented times and agreed with Councillor Morris and Howells in light of the cost-of-living crisis. With regard to the amendment, the Leader agreed with Councillor Whitehead's comments, all members of the council had a collective duty and responsibility to support the budget. Under the financial guidelines, the strategies considered by Cabinet were prudent, affordable and sustainable and we needed to take a collective responsibility on that. On the proposal of an amendment, it was suggested that Cabinet refer the budget to invest £160K. It was a £320K saving over two years and it was proposed to use reserves to cover this. A proposal to reduce council tax by 1% would take £651K out of the revenue budget. This would reduce the Council Tax on a Band D house by 24pence per week. The Leader considered that keeping Oaklands and Spring Gardens open and protecting the vulnerable was the more important option and therefore rejected the amendment.

Councillor Mogford, Morris, Howells and Sterry wanted to invoke Standing Order 7.5, the right to require individual votes to be recorded.

The Presiding member asked Council to put it to the vote for the amendment motion was not carried due to a majority vote, therefore Council went back to the original motion.

Resolved:

That Council declined the Amended Motion to the budget.

Comments from Councillors on the Budget proposals:

Councillor Evans referred to Labour budget settings in the past. Councillor Evans referred to the effect that the Council Tax increase would have on Band D households and that in Newport during 2013-14 the average B and D was £855 per year, which would now be £1,380 per year. Torfaen County Borough Council raised their Council Tax by 2%. In addition, debts of £6M was also written off over the past five years. Councillor Evans also referred to payment for a vacant unit in Friars Walk. Councillor Evans requested that a recorded vote be taken at the end of the debate.

The Presiding Member reminded Councillor Evans that five members of the Council would need to support a recorded vote. Councillors Routley, Fouweather, Reeks, Jones and Sterry also requested a recorded vote at this point.

- Councillor Clarke supported the Council Budget.
- Councillor Corten also supported the Council Budget.
- Councillor Reynolds referred to the 2% raise in Torfaen, this would mean however that band D houses in Torfaen would be paying approximately £200 more per month than

Newport residents. It was important to support the vulnerable people in Newport and Councillor Reynolds was proud of Cabinet colleagues setting the budget under the difficult circumstances.

- Councillor Cocks acknowledged the incredible work carried out by Cabinet and officers of the Council in balancing the budget.
- Councillor Screen supported the Council Budget.
- Councillor Forsey went through the positive reasons for recycling and reflected on the environment and that Council had declared an environment and ecological emergency in the recent past. In addition, 30% of what was in bins could be recycled, 20% was food which could also be recycled.
- Councillor Fouweather was against the 8.5% Council Tax increase and referred to those that took part in the consultation who were against three weekly bin collections and asked that the budget be reconsidered.
- Councillor Routley referred to Spring Gardens which had 33 bedrooms on short term respite care and no nursing provision provided. Dementia affected over 2,000 residents in Newport, a dementia friendly city was cutting the budget by £300K.
- Councillor Hughes thanked everyone that contributed to the consultation. The Council Tax rise protected most the vulnerable, dementia services as well as mental health services.
- Councillor Reeks felt that the Council caused stress to scores of families who use vital social services and went through reduction in services including three weekly bin collection. Councillor Reeks therefore did not support the Council Tax rise and urged Cabinet to reconsider.
- Councillor James was grateful for Cabinet's improved offer but felt it had not gone far enough. The most vulnerable residents were still feeling the burden of this budget. Fairness Commission mentioned that the public were not provided with enough information on the impact of the proposals and that Council was not meeting its own basic requirements under the Equalities Act in relation to Fairness and Equality Impact Assessments. Councillor James felts it was untrue that the Council was out of choices. Neath and Port Talbot Council, a rainbow coalition put forward a budget with no service cuts, redundancies and a 4.5% increase in Council Tax using reserves. This Council's reserves last year were reported at £130M put forward a budget using reserves. Whilst there was a legal requirement to balance the budget there was no reason to vote this proposed budget through and the Council would have to work hard to bring a budget forward that all parties agreed upon. Councillor James was therefore against the budget proposal and also moved for a recorded vote.
- Councillor Batrouni referred to previous statement regarding internal borrowing and supported the Council Budget put forward by Cabinet.
- Councillor Lacey mentioned that no opposition member had approached her to discuss savings against her portfolio.
- Councillor Hourahine considered the alternative budget was not reasonable and commended colleagues and officer on their hard work.
- Councillor Davies mentioned the severe cuts that had impacted on the Council and social services and education were considered in the budget and that Cabinet cared about the residents of Newport. In response to Councillor James, Councillor Davies also mentioned that the Fairness Commission failed consider the support mechanisms that

Newport City Council had in place. An example of this was the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, unanimously voted on at last Council.

- Councillor Morris answered Councillor Lacey's point that no one had approached the Cabinet Member. Councillor Morris said that they had got involved with residents therefore their alternative proposal was in light of discussions with residents.
- The Leader thanked all colleagues who engaged in the debate and speaking on behalf of the citizens of Newport. This was Newport City Council's budget and the Leader wanted to pick up on openness and transparency, one opposition member queried a YouTube post which scare mongering, the Leader mentioned that this was letting members of the public know the truth of the position in Newport regarding the budget. We heard reference to different council budgets and it was pointed out that in Wales there was a social partnership where government worked closely with Trade Unions and the work force. The Leader highlighted the services provided to citizens from the cradle to grave. From registration services, trading standards, environmental health, housing standards, schools, parks and cemeteries etc. Newport City Council provided over 800 services to citizens of Newport, people paid for more than for a bin collection. Newport would continue to provide a strong, steady, responsible local government delivering a fairer, greener Newport. The Leader therefore commended the budget to the Chamber.

The Presiding Member took the following recorded vote:

	Councillor Name	Apologies	For	Against	Abstain
1	Paul Cockeram				
2	Allan Morris			1	
3	David Mayer		1		
4	Miqdad Al-Nuaimi		1		
5	Matthew Evans			1	
6	Malcolm Linton		1		
7	David Fouweather			1	
8	William Routley			1	
9	Martyn Kellaway			1	
10	Trevor Watkins		1		
11	Ray Mogford			1	
12	Kate Thomas		1		
13	Deb Harvey		1		
14	Jane Mudd		1		
15	Kevin Whitehead			1	
16	Deb Davies		1		
17	Mark Spencer		1		
18	Carmel Townsend			1	
19	Janet Cleverly			1	
20	Stephen Marshall		1		
21	Jason Jordan			1	
22	Laura Lacey		1		
23	Phil Hourahine		1		
24	Jason Hughes		1		
25	James Clarke		1		
26	Yvonne Forsey		1		
27	Farzina Hussain		1		
28	John Jones			1	
29	Gavin Horton		1		
30	Andrew Sterry			1	

31	Mark Howells		1	
32	James Peterson		1	
33	Pat Drewett	1		
34	Claire Baker-Westhead	1		
35	Stephen Cocks	1		
36	Rhian Howells	1		
37	Beverly Perkins	1		
38	Dimitri Batrouni	1		
39	Matthew Pimm	1		
40	Paul Bright	1		
41	Allan Screen	1		
42	John Reynolds	1		
43	Emma Stowell-Corten	1		
44	Tim Harvey	1		
45	Alex Pimm	1		
46	Saeed Adan	1		
47	Debbie Jenkins	1		
48	Chris Reeks		1	
49	John Harris			
50	Beverly Davies	1		
51	Lauren James		1	
	Total	33	16	

Resolved:

That Council

Revenue budget and council tax 23/24 (section 2-8)

- Noted that an extensive consultation exercise was completed on the 2023/24 budget proposals. Cabinet have taken this into account in recommending final details of their budget.
- 2 Noted the Head of Finance's recommendations that minimum General Fund balances could be maintained at a level of at least £6.5million, the confirmation of the robustness of the overall budget underlying the proposals, subject to the key issues highlighted in section 7.
- Considered and approved a council tax increase for Newport City Council of 8.5%, a Band D tax of £1,380.13; and the overall revenue budget shown in Appendix 1.
- 4 Approved the formal council tax resolution, included in Appendix 3 which incorporated The Police and Crime Commissioner for Gwent and Community Council precepts.

Medium term financial plan (MTFP) (section 5)

- Noted the MTFP and the uncertain financial challenges over the medium term in the context of economic challenges, increasing demand within service areas and potential financial issues on school budgets.
- Noted Cabinet's approval of the implementation of the three-year plan, including all budget proposals, as summarised within the medium-term financial plan (Appendix 4). Considering point 5 above it should be noted that financial projections were subject to on-going review and updating.

Noted and approved the Council's reserves strategy and transformation fund protocol. Estimated reserve balances as of 31 March can be found within Appendix 5a.

7. National Non-Domestic Rates: Discretionary Rate Relief Schemes 2023/24

The Presiding Member invited the Leader to introduce the next item on the agenda, which dealt with the Welsh Government's rate relief scheme for 2023/24. This applied to all retail, hospitality and leisure businesses across the city which met their qualifying criteria set out in the report and give a 75% rate reduction. It followed on from similar relief schemes operating since 2020/21.

Council was asked to agree to adopt the Welsh Government's Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rate Relief Scheme for 2023-24 by making the appropriate determinations and decision, included within the report, as required by Sections 47(1)(a) and 47(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.

As the recommendations suggested, this was a 'procedural report' and required as, whilst this was the Welsh Government scheme, it was being implemented by Local Authorities using their own discretionary powers under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. The use of this discretion was one for full Council to consider and exercise, which was a valuable benefit to those qualifying businesses.

The Scheme was fully funded by Welsh Government and enabled those businesses in retail, leisure or hospitality sector to benefit from 75% reduced business rates in 2023-24. The scheme covered all businesses that occupied business premises operating in these sectors.

Once adopted, the discretionary power would be exercised by the Head of Finance under delegated powers. The formal determination was shown within the report.

The relief operated in a similar way to previous schemes and businesses were required to apply for the rate relief. The same application, for those businesses operating in the city centre, was also used to allow them to access the Council's own local scheme and this provided 25% rate relief. It would be awarded automatically at the same time as the Welsh Government's award. This meant that eligible business would be in receipt of 100% rate relief over the next financial year. The Leader urged all retailers eligible to apply for this scheme.

Councillor D Davies seconded the report.

Comments from Councillors:

- Councillor D Davies mentioned that 75% in tax relief would make a huge difference in these difficult times supported by the Welsh Government and Cardiff Capital Region funding but was led by Newport City Council due to its vision and determination. Councillor D Davies therefore welcomed the report.
- Councillor Thomas hoped that businesses would take advantage to help them thrive and do well in Newport. Councillor Thomas was particularly pleased as the city centre was in the Stow Hill ward.
- Councillor Evans on behalf of the conservative group fully supported the report.

Resolved:

Council agreed unanimously to adopt the Welsh Government's Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Rate Relief Scheme for 2023-24 by making the appropriate determinations and decision,

included within the report, as required by Sections 47(1)(a) and 47(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.

8. **Gwent Wellbeing Plan 2023/28**

The Presiding Member invited the Leader to present update on the development of the Gwent Wellbeing Plan 2023-28 and approve the plan as one of the Statutory Members of the Gwent Public Services Board.

There was a statutory requirement within the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act for Public Services Bodies to produce a Well-being plan setting objectives on how it would improve the economic, social, environmental, and cultural well-being of its area by contributing to the achievement of the seven National Well-being goals.

The Gwent Public Services Board held its first meeting in October 2021 after it was agreed for each of the five local PSBs, including OneNewport, to merge to form a Gwent PSB thus strengthening partnership arrangements across the region. The wellbeing plan was therefore based upon needs assessments from across Gwent, including the six local areas of Newport.

As Chair of the OneNewport partnership, which became a local delivery group, the Leader informed colleagues that they would be working closely with all partners to deliver the objectives of the final plan both on a regional and local footprint and have started to develop a local delivery plan.

The analysis of the needs assessments highlighted key themes residents wanted to prioritise. These themes formed the basis of a draft plan published for a statutory consultation period between October and December 2022.

Following feedback gained from the consultation from both stakeholders and members of the public, the Plan was amended, and this new plan was now shared with Members.

The Leader drew Council colleagues attention to the two Well-being Objectives:

- We want to create a fairer, more equitable and inclusive Gwent for all
- We want a climate-ready Gwent, where our environment is valued and protected, benefitting our well-being now and for future generations

These were supported by the five steps contained within the plan. Following approval by all statutory partners, the Gwent PSB would provide final sign off in mid-April with publication in May 2023.

A more detailed regional delivery plan would be developed following publication, along with a performance management framework

Newport was working with OneNewport partners and other key stakeholders to develop a local action plan to address the particular needs for our communities across the city.

Resolved:

Council reviewed and accepted the Gwent Well-Being Plan.

The Presiding Member closed the meeting at this point.